69220-8

69220-8

No. 69220-8-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I,
FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE FERGUSON FIRM, PLLC,

Respondent,

vs.

TELLER & ASSOCIATES, PLLC,

Other Party,

and

BRIAN J. WAID, d/b/a LAW OFFICE OF BRIAN J. WAID,

Appellant Attorney Lien Claimant.

AMENDED BRIEF OF APPELLANT ATTORNEY LIEN CLAIMANT
BRIAN J. WAID D/B/A LAW OFFICE OF BRIAN J. WAID

Emmelyn Hart, WSBA #28820
Talmadge/Fitzpatrick
18010 Southcenter Parkway
Tukwila, Washington 98188-4630
(206) 574-6661

Attorneys for Appellant Attorney Lien Claimant
Brian J. Waid d/b/a Law Office of Brian J. Waid

A. INTRODUCTION

The underlying case involves a dispute over the division of a contingent fee (“fee dispute”) recovered by The Ferguson Firm, PLLC (“Ferguson”) and Teller & Associates, PLLC (“Teller”) arising out of their joint representation of several clients in an unrelated matter (“other matter”). Brian J. Waid d/b/a Law Office of Brian J. Waid (“Waid”) represented Ferguson in an effort to protect its share of the fund. After the trial court permitted Waid to withdraw from his representation of Ferguson for good cause, he filed an attorney’s lien to secure payment of his unpaid fees from Ferguson’s share of the fund. Ferguson moved to set aside the lien.

This appeal arises out of the trial court’s decision to grant Ferguson’s motion and invalidate Waid’s lien.¹ The lien is valid and superior to any other liens; thus, the trial court erred by invalidating it. This Court should reverse, reinstate the lien, require the trial court to order Ferguson to restore the funds that it withdrew from the court registry, and determine the amount of fees to which Waid is entitled. Alternatively, the Court should reverse, reinstate Waid’s lien, and remand for further proceedings in the trial court.

¹ This appeal is linked for consideration with Ferguson’s appeal in *The Ferguson Firm, PLLC v. Teller & Assoc., PLLC*, Court of Appeals Cause No. 68329-2.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

(1) Assignments of Error²

1. The trial court erred by finding that “[t]he \$530,107.58 in attorneys’ fees do not represent ‘proceeds’ received by Ferguson after arbitration or mediation due to services performed by Mr. Waid. RCW 60.40.010(d). The funds were earned by Teller and Ferguson well before Mr. Waid was retained.”

2. The trial court erred by finding that “[t]he funds that are currently in dispute were not obtained by a ‘judgment’ on behalf of Ferguson against Teller. RCW 60.40.010(e). *Wilson v. Henkle*, 45 Wn. App. 162, 170, 724 P.2d 1069 (1986). Teller, the adverse party, consistently maintained that Ferguson was entitled to half of the attorneys’ fees that were generated in the Underlying Matter. Ferguson retained Mr. Waid in her unsuccessful effort to obtain 90% of the fees.”

3. The trial court erred by entering an order on July 30, 2012 setting aside Waid’s attorney lien and ordering the disbursement of funds from the court registry to Ferguson.

² Waid cannot provide a separate assignment of error for each finding of fact that he contends was improperly made with reference to the number as RAP 10.3(g) requires because the trial court did not number the findings in the order setting aside his attorney’s lien. Copies of the challenged orders are in the Appendix.

(2) Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Did the trial court err by invalidating a statutory attorney's lien where the lien automatically arose by operation of law upon an action and its proceeds when the attorney initiated the action on his client's behalf and the client recovered funds at the conclusion of that action as a result of the services that the attorney performed? (Assignments of Error Nos. 1, 3)

2. Did the trial court err by invalidating a statutory attorney's lien where the lien applies to a final judgment determining the entitlement of the attorney's client and a third-party to disputed fees earned in another matter and the judgment is one from which the client independently appeals? (Assignments of Error Nos. 2-3)

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Sandra Ferguson is an attorney and the principal of Ferguson. CP 116. Ferguson began representing the clients in the other matter in August 2009 pursuant to a flat fee/contingency agreement. CP 4, 116, 448-54. The clients were unable to advance the majority of their litigation costs. CP 4. With the clients' knowledge and consent, Ferguson approached several law firms seeking co-counsel who could advance the substantial litigation costs and share the workload. CP 4.

Teller was one of seven firms that Ferguson approached as potential co-counsel.³ CP 4.

In October 2010, Ferguson attempted to mediate the clients' dispute. CP 5. When mediation failed, Ferguson and the clients expected to take the matter to trial. CP 5.

In November 2010, Ferguson and Teller agreed to jointly represent the clients in the other matter with the clients' consent and knowledge. CP 4, 7. Teller agreed to advance all litigation costs. CP 20.

During the joint representation, the WSBA Disciplinary Board suspended Sandra for three months based on misconduct she committed in an unrelated action.⁴ CP 2-3, 8, 20. Ferguson withdrew from representing the clients when Sandra began serving her suspension in February 2011.⁵ CP 2, 8, 21.

During Ferguson's absence, Teller negotiated a settlement for the clients and the other matter settled in April 2011. CP 8. When Ferguson and Teller disagreed about the division of the contingent fee shortly

³ Stephen Teller is an attorney and principal at Teller. CP 3. Sandra and Stephen had known one another for approximately ten years and had successfully worked together in the past. CP 3.

⁴ Teller was aware of Sandra's impending suspension from the practice of law when it negotiated the co-counsel agreement in the other matter. CP 5, 20, 117.

⁵ Sandra was readmitted to practice in May 2011. CP 21.

thereafter, Ferguson served, but did not file, a notice of attorney's claim of lien. CP 8, 20, 66.

On May 4, 2011, Ferguson retained Waid to represent it in the fee dispute with Teller. CP 8, 66, 118. Their written agreement defines the scope of Waid's representation as follows:

CLIENT hereby retains ATTORNEY to provide legal services to CLIENT on an hourly fee basis *relative to claims for a fee division dispute* with Attorney Stephen Teller, *arising out of or relating to CLIENT's and Mr. Teller's representation of clients in the [other matter].*

CP 210 (emphasis added). The agreement further provides that Waid "shall" have a lien against any proceeds recovered by, or on behalf of, Ferguson in connection with the claims arising out of the fee dispute with Teller, including pursuant to RCW 60.40.010 *et seq.* CP 210-11. Under the agreement, Waid invoiced Ferguson each month for the services that he provided. CP 161, 210, 217-42. Ferguson never questioned a single charge and never disputed Waid's fees. CP 161, 166.

Waid successfully defended Teller's two attempts to summarily adjudicate the fee dispute. CP 68, 69-70, 103-05, 119, 169-70, 248-77. In those petitions, Teller argued alternative awards: Ferguson should recover no more than 50% of the disputed fees; Ferguson should recover less than 50% of the fees based on *quantum meruit*; and Ferguson should

recover no fees at all. CP 71. By defeating Teller's petitions, Waid protected Ferguson's *quantum meruit* theory and its entitlement to at least 50% of the disputed fees. CP 159, 170. During the fee dispute litigation, the trial court suggested that the two law firms file a separate action to resolve their claims. CP 163.

On May 27, 2011, Ferguson sued Teller to resolve the fee dispute. CP 1-12, 46. They eventually agreed to deposit the amount of the disputed fees into the court registry. CP 66, 72, 118, 120, 172. Although Teller counterclaimed, *again alleging that Ferguson was entitled to either no fees or less than 50% of the disputed fees*, the trial court dismissed Teller's counterclaims on Ferguson's motion. CP 13-18, 76, 170, 175, 444.

After unsuccessfully moving to dismiss Ferguson's complaint under CR 12(c), Teller filed a motion for summary judgment seeking a declaratory judgment that: (1) an express fee agreement existed between Teller and Ferguson; and (2) that Ferguson's *quantum meruit* claim be dismissed. CP 19, 174-75. At oral argument, the trial court ruled that Teller had established as a matter of law that an express contract existed between Teller and Ferguson to divide the attorney fee award equally. CP 19. But the court reserved ruling on the issue of whether Ferguson's suspension from the practice of law was a condition subsequent

rendering the agreement unenforceable, permitting fees to be awarded on the basis of *quantum meruit*. CP 19-20. On January 30, 2012, the trial court granted summary judgment to Teller, dismissed Ferguson's *quantum meruit* claim, and ordered the disputed funds to be divided equally. CP 19-25, 123, 177. The court denied Ferguson's request for reconsideration. CP 199.

On February 9, 2012, Teller filed a motion for, among other things, the disbursement of funds, which required Ferguson to respond by 12 noon on February 15, 2012. CP 27, 29, 45. By then, Ferguson had retained replacement counsel and instructed Waid that it preferred its replacement counsel to prepare the opposition, provided that replacement counsel could have an additional three weeks to review the record and to prepare the response. CP 33, 58, 187.

On the morning of February 10, 2012, Ferguson threatened Waid with a legal malpractice claim. CP 32, 57, 187-88. Waid promptly advised Ferguson of the potential conflict of interest, both verbally and electronically, and informed it that he was required to immediately withdraw. CP 33, 44, 57, 58-59, 188. He then filed his withdrawal and moved for permission to immediately withdraw and to continue the hearing on Teller's motion as Ferguson had instructed so that its replacement counsel could prepare the opposition. CP 26-36, 188-89.

The trial court conducted a telephone conference call to address Waid's motion on February 13, 2012. CP 184, 361-63. Moments *before* the conference began, Ferguson instructed Waid by email that it wanted a continuance to obtain new counsel. CP 60, 190. *During* the conference, Ferguson again reiterated to Waid by email that it wanted its new replacement counsel (now an entirely different firm than its first replacement counsel) to file the opposition to Teller's motion, provided that Waid obtained a 30 day extension of time. CP 59-61, 190. Waid communicated Ferguson's instructions to the trial court. CP 59, 61, 190-91. That court granted Ferguson's request for an additional 30 days and authorized Waid's immediate withdrawal. CP 361.

Ferguson requested reconsideration of that order on February 15, 2012 when its second replacement counsel declined to proceed on its behalf.⁶ CP 37-51, 60. Among other assertions, it claimed that it had always wanted Waid to prepare the opposition to Teller's motion. CP 46, 50. Waid responded in writing to the extent permitted by RPC 1.6 and RPC 1.9 and requested an *in camera* hearing to further address Ferguson's allegations. CP 56-61.

⁶ Although Ferguson's motion was noted as a motion opposing Waid's withdrawal, it was functionally a motion for reconsideration. CP 37-43.

The trial court conducted a second hearing on February 16, 2012 to consider Ferguson's motion. CP 184-201. During the hearing, the trial court instructed Waid to produce the emails between him and Ferguson concerning Ferguson's instructions. CP 157, 197. The court reviewed those emails *in camera* and concluded that Waid had followed Ferguson's instructions precisely. CP 157, 195, 197. The court re-affirmed its prior order authorizing Waid to withdraw immediately for cause. CP 155, 199.

Waid filed an attorney's lien seeking to recover \$78,350.85 in fees and costs that he incurred representing Ferguson in the fee dispute with Teller and in the instant action.⁷ CP 131-33. Ferguson never disputed any of Waid's fees or charges. CP 143, 166. Ferguson made only two payments to Waid during his representation. CP 165.

Teller eventually sought disbursement of its 50% share of the disputed fees, interest, attorney fees, and costs. CP 358. On February 16, 2012, the trial court entered an order of partial disbursement. CP 62-63. The trial court determined that Ferguson had not established any basis to prevent Teller from receiving its 50% share of the fees in dispute and ordered \$265,053.79 disbursed to Teller. CP 62. It then ordered that \$101,000.74 remain in the court registry until

⁷ Waid filed notice of his lien with the clerk of the court and the appropriate entry was made in the execution docket. CP 166-67.

further notice because the issues relating to interest and sanctions/attorney fees as to Ferguson's 50% share had not yet been resolved. CP 62. It also ordered that \$78,350.85 remain in the court registry until further court order to protect Waid's lien. CP 63. Finally, the court ordered that the remaining portion of Ferguson's 50% share or \$85,702.20, be disbursed to it. CP 63. Later that same day, Ferguson filed an emergency motion in this Court to stay the order of partial disbursement. CP 358. The Court of Appeals Commissioner granted a temporary stay and directed the parties to provide additional briefing on the issue. CP 358.

On February 21, 2012, Ferguson appealed the trial court's summary judgment order and the other orders granted in favor of Teller. CP 358. It moved the trial court for a supersedeas bond to stay the partial disbursement to Teller. CP 373.

On March 22, 2012, this Court's Commissioner issued a ruling extending the temporary stay an additional 14 days and informing Ferguson that it was required to post a bond, cash, or alternate security approved by the trial court to stay enforcement of the order of disbursement. CP 357-59.

Ferguson and Teller entered into a stipulation and agreed order to resolve the supersedeas issue, which the trial court entered on

April 12, 2012. CP 72, 372-79. The parties agreed that \$290,905.53 of the amount on deposit in the court registry would serve as Ferguson's supersedeas bond pending the outcome of its appeal and/or upon further order of the trial court. CP 373, 376. The parties also agreed: (1) that 10% of the funds on deposit would be immediately disbursed Teller; (2) that \$78,350.85, representing Waid's attorney lien, would remain in the registry pending further order of the trial court; and (3) that the remaining \$107,840.44 on deposit would be immediately disbursed to Ferguson. CP 374, 377.

Ferguson moved on July 11, 2012 to have the trial court summarily set aside Waid's attorney lien. CP 106-25, 326-32. Waid responded and also moved to strike inadmissible portions of Sandra's supporting declaration. CP 142-81, 320-26. The trial court granted Waid's motion to strike. CP 336-38.

On July 30, 2012, the trial court granted the motion to set aside Waid's lien and directed the clerk of the court to disburse to Ferguson the sum of \$78,350.85 held in the court registry, together with all interest accrued on that amount. CP 341-43. Waid filed his notice of appeal from that order on August 9, 2012. CP 339-44.

On August 22, 2012, Waid filed a motion to stay disbursement to Ferguson of the funds in the court registry representing his attorney's lien

and for approval of a supersedeas bond. CP 345-50. Unbeknownst to him, Ferguson had withdrawn the funds representing his attorney's lien from the court registry on August 3, 2012, a scant four days after the trial court entered its order. CP 386-87, 393, 401. The trial court denied Waid's motion on August 30, 2012. CP 419-21. The next day, he filed an amended notice of appeal to include the order denying his request for a stay and for approval of a supersedeas bond. CP 413-22.

D. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

An attorney always has the option of suing a client to recover unpaid legal fees. An attorney may also choose to assert a lien to ensure the payment of outstanding fees. RCW 60.40.010(1) provides an attorney with an automatically enforceable lien for his or her compensation on the client's papers, on money in the hands of the adverse party, on an action and its proceeds, and on a judgment. An attorney who files a lien is not required to initiate a separate lawsuit to adjudicate the lien.

The trial court erred by invalidating Waid's attorney lien because the lien is valid under RCW 60.40.010(1)(d) and (e).

Waid has a valid lien on the fee dispute and its proceeds under RCW 60.40.010(d). The plain words of the statute state that an attorney's lien arises by operation of law upon an action and its proceeds. Here, Waid's lien arose the moment he filed the lawsuit to recover funds on

Ferguson's behalf; it automatically attached to the action and any proceeds that Ferguson recovered. Ferguson received 50% of the disputed fees as a result of the services that Waid performed. Those funds are "proceeds" within the meaning of the statute because they represent the monetary sum that Ferguson received at the conclusion of its lawsuit against Teller. Those proceeds are properly subject to Waid's attorney lien.

Waid also has a valid lien to the extent of the value of his services under RCW 60.40.010(1)(e). By its plain terms, this subsection applies to a "judgment." Whether Ferguson recovered 90% or 50% of the disputed fees is irrelevant. The trial court determined the entitlement of Ferguson and Teller to the disputed fees and entered an order from which Ferguson's appeal arises. Waid's lien therefore properly attached to the trial court's final "judgment" as between Ferguson and Teller.

This Court should consider and resolve the amount of Waid's attorney lien as a matter of judicial economy where the evidence before the Court is undisputed. Ferguson never questioned Waid's charges and never disputed his fees.

This Court should reverse, reinstate Waid's lien and require the trial court to order Ferguson to restore the funds that it withdrew from the court registry. Alternatively, the Court should reverse, reinstate Waid's lien, and remand for further proceedings in the trial court.

E. ARGUMENT

(1) Statutory Interpretation and Standard of Review

The Court's fundamental objective in reading a statute is to ascertain and carry out the Legislature's intent. *Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C.*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). If a statute's meaning is plain on its face, then the Court must give effect to that plain meaning. *Id.* Under the plain meaning rule, the statute's meaning is derived from all that the Legislature has said in the statute and related statutes that disclose legislative intent about the provision in question. *Id.* at 11-12. But if the statute is ambiguous, the Court may look to outside sources to determine legislative intent. *Cannon v. Dep't of Licensing*, 147 Wn.2d 41, 56-57, 50 P.3d 627 (2002). A statute is ambiguous if it is subject to more than one reasonable interpretation. *Id.* at 56. The Court should not adopt an interpretation that renders any portion meaningless. *State v. Keller*, 143 Wn.2d 267, 277, 19 P.3d 1030 (2001). Strained meanings and absurd results should be avoided. *State v. Neher*, 112 Wn.2d 347, 351, 771 P.2d 330 (1989). The meaning of a statute is a question of law that the Court reviews de novo. *Okeson v. City of Seattle*, 150 Wn.2d 540, 548-49, 78 P.3d 1279 (2003); *State v. J.M.*, 144 Wn.2d 472, 480, 28 P.3d 720 (2001).

(2) A Separate Lawsuit Is Not Required to Adjudicate an Attorney's Lien

An attorney may sue a client for unpaid fees. *Ross v. Scannell*, 97 Wn.2d 598, 605, 647 P.2d 1004 (1982). But like many other professionals, an attorney may also choose to assert a lien to ensure payment of outstanding fees without initiating a lawsuit to recover those fees. *See, e.g.*, RCW 60.04.021 (contractor's lien on the improvement to real property); RCW 60.24.033 (lien on real property for labor or services on timber and lumber); RCW 60.44.010 (medical service providers' lien on a patient's recovery from a tortfeasor). RCW 60.40.010(1) provides an attorney with an automatically enforceable lien for his or her compensation on the client's papers, on money in the attorney's hands belonging to the client, on money in the hands of the adverse party, on an action and its proceeds, and on a judgment to the extent of the value of any services performed by the attorney in the action.

The attorney lien statute protects both the client and the attorney. *Krein v. Nordstrom*, 80 Wn. App. 306, 309, 908 P.2d 889 (1995). But it does not require the attorney to initiate a separate lawsuit to adjudicate the lien. *King County v. Seawest Inv. Assoc., LLC*, 141 Wn. App. 304, 314-16, 170 P.3d 53, *review denied*, 163 Wn.2d 1054, 187 P.3d 752 (2007) (where the attorney lien statute does not establish any procedure for

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