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

attorney’s fees,. to be divided between Ms. Ferguson and another

attorney, Teller. Teller agreed that Ms. Ferguson was entitled to half

of the funds ($265,053.79). He contended he was entitled to the

other half Due to her extensive work on the Underlying Matter,

Ms. Ferguson sought a larger proportion of the funds, based on

quantum meruit. Due to the apportionment dispute, the entire sum

was deposited in the Court Registry.

Appellant Waid, an attorney, was retained to represent Ms.

Ferguson regarding the fee dispute. After losing the case he filed on
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the matter, Waid withdrew from representing Ms. Ferguson, on one

day’s notice. He then attempted to file a “lien” for “fees” whichhe

claimed to be $78, 350,85.

The Superior Court invalidated Waid’s “lien” and ordered

disbursement of the fimds to The Ferguson Firm. Waid’s tardy

motion for a stay, filed 19 days after the fUnds were disbursed, was

denied as moot. Waid filed notices of appeal.

A. The Motion to Dismiss Waid’s AppeaL

The Superior Court’s thoughtfUl and well-reasoned

interlocutory orders regarding Waid are not appealable as a matter of

right. RAP 2.2(a). Accordingly, Respondent Ferguson Firm timely

filed a motion in this Court to dismiss Waid’s appeal. Our motion to

dismiss was denied by the Commissioner without prejudice to renew

it in the briefs on the merits. We do so here.

-2-



B. The Orders Should be Affirmed Because the
Disbursement ofFunds and Order IlDenying Waid’s Stay
Motion Are Not Challenged on AppeaL

The Superior Court directed the Clerk to disburse the funds to

the Ferguson Firm after the Court invalidated Waid’s “lien”. Order

I, CP 4 15-417. Waid failed to seek a stay of the disbursement order

until long after the funds had been disbursed. Moreover, Waid fails

in this appeal to assign error to the denial of his stay motion. As a

result, the order and the disbursement of the funds to the Ferguson

Firm stand. The appeal is moot.

C The “Lien” Was Not Valid Under RCW

60.40.O1O(1)(d).

The Superior Court properly found, based on the undisputed

documentary evidence, that “[t]he funds were earned by Teller and

Ferguson well before Mr. Waid was retained.” CP 416-417. The

Court also found that Ms. Ferguson did not receive any proceeds due

to any services performed by Waid. CP 416. The Superior Court’s

fmdings are supported by substantial--indeed undisputed—evidence

-3-



and should be affirmed. Without proceeds, Waid’s “lien” is not

authorized by subsection (d) of the statute.

D. The “Lien” Was Not Valid UnderRCW6O.40.O1O(’J)fr).

The Superior Court also properly found, •based on the

undisputed documentary evidence, that “[tjhe funds currently in

dispute were not obtained by a ‘judgment’ on behalf of Ferguson

against Teller. RCW 60.40.O1O(1)(e).” The “lien” was not

authorized under subsection (e) of the statute, which requires a

judgment as a predicate.

E. Waid’s Request that this Court Sit as a Trial Court in

Order to “Resolve the Amount of Waid’s Lien “Must Be Rejected.

The Ferguson Firm contends that Waid owes it money. Waid

takes the opposite, meritless position. Waid wants this Court tQ sit

as a trial court and “resolve the amount ofWaid’s lien”. Appellant’s

Brief, p. 23. Once again, Waid has no order to appeal from. The

-4-



Superior Court did not address this issue and neither should this

Court. Jurisdiction is lacking.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(1) In August, 2009, Sandra Ferguson began representing

four women who would eventually become the named plaintiffs

•C’SEBS”) in the Underlying Matter which gave rise to the fee

dispute between Teller and The Ferguson Firm. CP 116.

(2) In February, 2010, Ms. Ferguson filed a lawsuit on

behalf of the SEBS group. The case was filed in the wake of a

settlement achieved by Ms. Ferguson in December, 2009, on behalf

of a co-worker against the same Underlying Defendant. CP 116.

(3) In November, 2010, Teller agreed to finance the three

experts who would be needed to litigate the SEBS case to trial or

achieve the clients’ settlement goals. CP 116. He was associated on

the case as co-counsel based upon this promise. CP 116-117.

(4) On April 28, 2011, The Ferguson Firm and the Teller
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firm reached a settlement agreement in the Underlying SEBS

matter. Order Granting the Ferguson Firm ‘s Motion to Set Aside

Waid Attorney’s Lien, and Ordering Disbursement ofFunds

(“Order]”),CP416;CP 118.

(5) The attorneys’ fees portion of the settlement funds

($530,107.58) was deposited into the Court Registry. Order I, CP

416; CP 118.

(6) On May 4,2011, Ms. Ferguson retained Brian Waid for

representation in the fee dispute with Teller. Order I, CP 416;

CP 118. Although Teller agreed that The Ferguson Firm was entitled

to half of the attorney’s’ fees ($265,053.79), Waid failed to obtain a

disbursement of Ms. Ferguson’s funds to her, or a judgment in her

favor, at any time during his representation of her in the Teller

Ferguson lawsuit. CP 118, 121, 122-124; Order I, CP 416-417.

This failure harmed Ms. Ferguson. CP123-124.

(7) On May 27, 2011, Ms. Ferguson filed a Complaint

seeking a Declaratory Judgment that there was no enforceable

-6-



contract with Teller, and arguing that the Court should divide the

fees based on a theory ofquantum meruit, 90% to Ms. Ferguson and

10% to Teller. Order I, CP 416. Teller argued the existence of an

express contract to divide the fees 50:50. Ibid. On January 30,

2012, the Superior Court entered an otder which rejected Ferguson’s

argument and found the existence ofa 50:50 contract. Ibid; CP 19-

25. This order is on appeal in this Court. Ibid.

(8) On February 13, 2012, Waid withdrew as Ms.

Ferguson’s attorney. Order I, CP 416. This was done on one day’s

notice. CP 123.

(9) The following day Waid filed what he styled as a “lien”

for his attorney’s fees in the amount of $78,350.85. Order I, CP

416; CP 123.

(10) Ms. Ferguson moved to set aside the “lien” on the

grounds that the lien was invalid under RCW 60.40.010(1)(c),(d),

and (e). Order I, CP 416; CP 106-1 14.(i)

(i) The Waid “lien” purported to rely on RCW 60.40.010(1) (c) and (d).

-7-



(11) The Superior Court granted the motion. The Court

invalidated the lien and ordered the Clerk of Court to disburse the

$78,350.85 in the Registry to the Ferguson Firm, together with

interest accrued on that amount. Order 1~, CP 415-418.

(12) In its order, the Superior Court made the following

findings, all of which are based on substantial and/or undisputed

evidence:

(a) The funds are currently in the Court’s registry,

not in the “hands of an adverse party.” RCW 60.40.O10(1)(c) does

not apply. Order I, CP 416.

(b) “The $530,107.58 in attorneys’ fees do not

represent ‘proceeds’ received by Ferguson after arbitration or

mediation due to services performed by Mr. Waid. RCW

60.40.010(1)(d). The funds were earned by Teller and Ferguson

well before Mr. Waid was retained.” Order I, CP 416-4 17

CP 132. In later filings, Waid seems to have abandoned subsection (c) and
now pushes for subsection (e).

-8-



(emphasis added); CP 123-124.

(c) “The funds that are currently in dispute were not

obtained by a ‘judgment’ on behalf of Ferguson against Teller.

RCW 60.40.010(1)(e); Wilson v. Henkle, 45 Wn.App 162, 170, 724

P.2d 1069 (1986). Teller, the adverse party, consistently maintained

that Ferguson was entitled to half of the attorneys’ fees that were

generated in the Underlying Matter. Ferguson retained Mr. Waid in

her unsuccessful effort to obtain 90% of the fees.” Order I, CP 417.

(13) Pursuant to the trial court’s order, the Clerk disbursed

the funds to the Ferguson Firm, on or about August 3, 2012. CP

393; Order Denying Waid Motion to Stay Disbursement ofFunds in

the Court Registry Fending Appeal (“Order II”), CP 411.

(14) On August 22,2012, 19 days after the disbursement of

the funds, Waid filed a motion to stay disbursement of funds from

the Court Registry pending appeal. CP 345.

(15) The Superior Court properly found that Waid’s motion

was moot. Order II, CP 411. The stay motion was denied. Ibid.

-9-



(16) As noted above, Waid did not assign error to the

denial of his stay motion. As a result, the order denying the stay as

moot (Order II) and the disbursement of the hinds to the Ferguson

Firm stand.

III. MOTION TO DISMISS WAID’S APPEAL

A. Identity ofMoving Party

Respondent, The Ferguson Firm, PLLC, asks for the

relief designated in Part B.

B. Statement ofReliefSought

An order dismissing the “appeals” ofattorney Brian Waid

because (a) he has no RAP 2.2 order to appeal from; (b) the

second “appeal” he filed is from the denial of a motion that was

moot—as the Superior Court ruled in its order; and (c) Waid was

not and is not a party to the underlying action (ii) with which he

(ii) The Ferguson Firm, PLLC, v. Teller and Associates, King County No.

-10-



is trying to involve himself in this Court.

C. Facts Relevant to Motion

The facts warranting dismissal of this appeal are set forth

in (1) the Superior Court’s Order Granting the Ferguson Firm ‘s

Motion to Set Aside Waid “Attorney’s Lien “, and Ordering

Disbursement ofFunds, (“Order 1”) (iii), and (2) the Superior

Court’s Order Denying Motion to Stay Disbursement ofFunds in

the CourtRegistryPendingAppeal, (“Order I]”) (iv), and (3) the

facts set forth in Section II herein, the Statement of the Case.

As described in Order I~ Mr. Waid filed a lawsuit on

behalf of The Ferguson Firm, lost a ruling, and then withdrew

as Ms. Ferguson’s lawyer, leaving her unrepresented. One day

later, Waid filed what he styled as an “attorney’s lien” in the

11-2-19221-1 SEA, Court of Appeals No. 68329-21.

(iii) For the Court’s convenience, a copy of Order I is attached hereto as
Appendix A and by this reference incorporated herein.

(iv) For the Court’s convenience, a copy of Order II, CP 410-412, is
attached hereto as Appendix B and by this reference incorporated herein.

—11—



amount of $78, 350.85. See Orderl, CP 416.

The Superior Court granted The Ferguson Firm’s Motion

to Set Aside the Waid “Attorney’s Lien” and ordered the Clerk to

disburse the $78,350.85 to theFergusonFirm. Orderl, CP 416-

417. The Clerk promptly complied, on August 3, 2012. Order

11, CP 411 (v).

On August 22, 2012, Waid filed a motion to stay

disbursement of the afready-disbursed finds. CP 345. The

Superior Court denied the motion because it is moot. Order II,

CP 411, ¶ (3). Waid then filed an “amended notice of appeal”

referring to both Order I and Order IL CP 413-421.

We timely moved to dismiss the appeal. The

Commissioner denied the motion without prejudice to renew it in

the briefs on the merits. Notation Ruling, October 1, 2012. We

renew the motion here.

Cv) Waid did not file his appeal notice from Order Iuntil August 9, 2012.

-12-



D. Groundsfor Reliefand Argument

1. Order I is not an appealable order under RAP 2.2(a).

The only methods for seeking review of decisions of the

superior court by the Court ofAppeals are by appeal (review as a

matter of right) and “discretionary review” (review by

permission of the reviewing court). RAP 2.1(a). Waid seeks

review as a matter of right. Dismissal of the appeal is warranted.

Order I is interlocutory. It is not appealable as of right under

RAP 2.2(a).

RAP 2.2(a) defines the decisions of the Superior Court

which may be appealed as of right by a non-governmental party.

The Superior Court’s Order I, setting aside the “attorney’s lien”

and for disbursement of finds, does not fall within RAP 2.2(a).

There are three reasons why Order I is not appealable as ofright.

(1) First, RAP 2.2(a)(1) requires a “final judgment”.

Here, as the Superior Court found, there is no ‘judgment” here,

- 13 -



much less a “final judgment”. (vi). Order I, CP 417.

(2) Second, RAP 2.2 (a)(3), captioned “Decision

Determining Action” requires a written decision “that in effect

determines the action and prevents a final judgment or

discontinues the action.” (Emphasis added). Here, the action

was between The Ferguson Firm and the Teller Firm. The

Superior Court’s decision, Order I, did not “determine” the

Ferguson v. Teller action. It did not “prevent a final judgment”

or “discontinue” the Ferguson v. Teller lawsuit.

The Ferguson Firm contends that Waid owes it money.

That issue has not been tried or adjudicated in any court. Waid

claims that The Ferguson Firm owes him money. That issue has

(vi) As the Superior Court noted, the finds currently in dispute in that
Court were not obtained by a “judgment” on behalf of Ms. Ferguson
against Teller. Order I, CP 417. The thuds were earned by Ms.
Ferguson “well before Mr. Waid was retained.” Order I, CP 416-417.
Any dispute between Waid and The Ferguson Law Firm over whether
Waid owes The Ferguson Firm money, or vice versa, would need to be
addressed by a Superior Court in a separate proceeding.

- 14-



likewise not been tried or adjudicated in any court. All the

Superior Court Order I did was to correctly conclude that what

Waid styled as a “lien” did not fit under the attorney’s lien

statute.(vii). Order I does not preclude Waid from litigating

whether The Ferguson Firm owes him money or vice versa in a

future proceeding in Superior Court. Order I is not a final

order—instead, it is procedural.

Waid is not a party to the Ferguson v. Teller lawsuit.

There is no “action” pertaining to him. The Superior Court did

not prevent Waid from filing a lawsuit in which he and the

Ferguson firm can litigate their claims against each other. The

Court’s order invalidating the “lien” did not “determine” any

claim by Waid or the Ferguson Firm. The order did not “prevent

a final judgment” by anyone, including Waid. It did not

“discontinue” any action between Waid and the Ferguson Firm

because there is none pending.

(vii) Order I, CP 416-417.

-15-



The order invalidating the “lien” did not order Waid to do

anything. The Superior Court did not order him to pay anything.

The Court did not order him to refrain from doing anything. The

Court’s interlocutory order, Order I, is not appealable under RAP

2.2(a)(3).

(3) Third, none of the other provisions of RAP 2.2(a)

apply either. Waid cannot appeal Order I as of right.

2. Order Ills not an appealable order under RAP 2.2.

In Order II, the Superior Court determined that Waid’s

motion to stay disbursement of funds—funds which had already

been disbursed by the Clerk pursuant to the Court’s Order I--is

moot. Order II, CP 411, ¶3. The Court’s order denying the stay

motion as moot does not fall within RAP 2.2(a). Waid has no

appeal as of right from Order IL

Our motion to dismiss Waid’s appeal should be granted.

-16-



IV. THE OR])ERS SHOULD BE AFFIRMED BECAUSE

WAID DOES NOT CHALLENGE THE DISBURSEMENT ON

APPEAL.

The Superior Court directed the Clerk to disburse the

funds to the Ferguson Firm after the Court invalidated Waid’s

“lien”. Order I, CP 415-417. Waid failed to seek a stay of the

disbursement order until 19 days after the funds had been

disbursed. Order II, CP4 11; CP 345.

RAP 8.1(b) provides in pertinent part: “A trial court

decision may be enforcedpending review unless stayedpursuant

to the provisions of this rule.” (Emphasis added). Here, the trial

court’s disbursement decision was properly enforced. Waid did

not obtain (or even timely seek) a stay as required by RAP

8.1(b).

Moreover, Waid fails in this appeal to assign error to the

denial of his stay motion. See Appellant’s Amended Brief, pp.2-3.

As a result, the order and the disbursement of the funds to the

-17-



Ferguson Fin~ stand. Clark County v. W. Wash. Growth Mgmt.

HearingsReviewBd., --Wash.2d--, --P.3d--(March2l, 2013), Slip

Opinion, p. 2, 8-9 (prohibiting review of separate and distinct

claims not raised on appeal); State v. Sims, 171 Wash,2d 436,441-

42, 256 P.3d 285 (2011) (“[A]n appellant is deemed to have

waived any issues that are not raised as assignments of error and

argued by brief’); Tellevikv. Real Property Known as 31641 West

RutherfordStreet, 120 Wash.2d 68, 92, 838 P.2d1 11(1992) (issue

not raised in assignments of error not considered on appeal). The

principle of res judicata applies. See Johnson v. Johnson, 53

Wash.2d 107, 113-14, 330 P.2d 1075 (1958), cited in Clark

County, supra, Slip Opinion, p. 9. Accordingly, Waid’s appeal is

moot. It should be dismissed. (viii).

(viii) If Waid wants to try to take money from Sandra Ferguson, he can
file a separate lawsuit in a trial court. That is the proper forum to litigate
the claims of the Ferguson Firm against Waid, and vice versa. The
instant case is not the place.
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V. THE SUPERIOR COURT’S ORDER I, INVALIDATING

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